RECEIVED

02-06-2019

2018AP002161-CR

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT IV
APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF DANE COUNTY
HONORABLE JILL KAROFSKY

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,
V.

CRAIG L. MILLER,
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT.

BRIEF AND ARGUMENT OF APPELLANT

Michael J. Herbert Wisconsin State Bar No. 1059100 10 Daystar Ct., Ste. C Madison, Wisconsin 53704 (608) 249-1211 Attorney for Craig Miller

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether Mr. Miller should be permitted to withdraw his plea in order to avoid a manifest injustice.

Craig Miller was convicted, pursuant to a guilty plea, of one count of Disorderly Conduct as a Repeater. Mr. Miller subsequently filed a motion for postconviction relief requesting to withdraw his plea on the grounds that it was not entered knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently.

The circuit court, Honorable Jill Karofsky, denied the motion after a hearing. Mr. Miller filed a timely Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF REASONS FOR ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Miller does not request oral argument and does not recommend that the opinion be published.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 11, 2017, a criminal complaint was filed in Dane County Circuit Court, charging Craig L. Miller with one count of Substantial Battery, as a Repeater and with Domestic Abuse Assessments, contrary to Wis. Stats. §940.19(2), a class I felony, and one count of Disorderly Conduct, as a Repeater and with Domestic Abuse Assessments, contrary to Wis. Stats. §947.01(1), a class B misdemeanor. ¹

A preliminary hearing was held, and at its conclusion, the court found probable cause and bound the case over for trial. An information was filed charging the same two counts alleged in the criminal complaint.

Mr. Miller subsequently entered a plea of guilty to count two (disorderly conduct as a repeater); count one was dismissed. The court adopted the joint sentencing recommendation, and imposed a bifurcated sentence of one year initial confinement and one year extended supervision.

Mr. Miller filed a Motion for Postconviction Relief, seeking to withdraw his plea. The motion argued that the plea was not entered knowingly, voluntarily,

5

¹ All references to Wisconsin Statutes are to the 2015-2016 Edition.

and intelligently, due to the effects of Mr. Miller's mental health status. At the time of the plea and sentencing, Mr. Miller had been diagnosed with paranoid schizophrenia.

The circuit court held a hearing on the motion at which Mr. Miller testified. At the conclusion of the hearing, the court denied Mr. Miller's motion. Mr. Miller then filed a timely Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

According to the criminal complaint, Officer Goodchild of the City of Madison Police Department reported that on July 30, 2017, A.Y. advised him that she had been punched in the face by her husband, Craig L. Miller. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2). A.Y. reported that at around 1:00am, she had been in bed in their shared home at 2832 Coolidge St. in Madison. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2). A.Y. reported that Mr. Miller had entered the room, pulled the blankets off A.Y. and started yelling at her for ignoring his calls. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2). A.Y. stated that Mr. Miller grabbed the house phone from the bed stand and started going through it. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2). A.Y. stated that Mr. Miller was leaning on her to keep her away from the phone. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2). A.Y. stated that she pushed Mr. Miller to get him off of her, and that he

punched her in the face with a closed fist. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2).

A.Y. stated that it caused her pain when Mr. Miller punched, and that she did not give him consent. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2). Officer Goodchild reports that A.Y. showed him a cut on her upper lip, which was still bleeding. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2).

Officer Baldukas reported that on July 31, 2017, he was dispatched to Meriter Hospital in reference to a domestic battery. (DOC 1:3; Appendix B:3). Officer Baldukas reported that A.Y. advised him that she was battered by her husband, Mr. Miller, and that as a result of the incident one of her front teeth was chipped. (DOC 1:3; Appendix B:3). Officer Baldukas observed the chipped tooth. (DOC 1:3; Appendix B:3). A.Y. advised that the tooth was chipped already, and that "when he hit it, another piece fell off and it is cracked across the top." (DOC 1:3; Appendix B:3). Officer Baldukas noted that the tooth was obviously cracked with a portion of the tooth broken along a vertical crack. (DOC 1:3; Appendix B:3).

APPELLANT'S ISSUE ON APPEAL

I. Whether Mr. Miller should be permitted to withdraw his plea in order to avoid a manifest injustice.

A. Summary of the Argument

Mr. Miller should be permitted to withdraw his plea in this case in order to avoid a manifest injustice.

The circuit court denied Mr. Miller's motion for postconviction relief in which he sought to withdraw his plea in this case. Mr. Miller argued that he suffered from paranoid schizophrenia, and that as a result his decision to waive his right to trial and instead enter a plea of guilty was not knowing, voluntary, and intelligent.

The circuit court correctly observed that in the history of this case, there had been no issues or questions raised regarding Mr. Miller's competency, and that there had also had been nothing in the record regarding a possible NGI plea.

The court further noted that Mr. Miller's medical records did indicate that he was suffering from paranoid schizophrenia, but that the record did not contain any information about the symptoms or treatment of paranoid schizophrenia. There was no expert testimony as to how that diagnosis may have affected his plea. The court further stated that based on the record, it did not

know how the treatment or medications he was taking affected him.

The court stated that it did not know how paranoid schizophrenia may have compromised the voluntariness of his plea. The court also noted that Mr. Miller had signed the plea questionnaire form indicating that he was not suffering from any mental illness and that he was not taking any prescribed medication.

The court noted that there had been no argument or assertion that the plea colloquy was defective or that Mr. Miller's trial counsel performed ineffectively.

The court concluded that the record was insufficient to establish that Mr. Miller's mental health impeded his ability to focus or understand what was happening at the plea hearing.

Mr. Miller would respectfully disagree that the record is insufficient to establish that his decision-making on the day of the plea hearing was compromised by his mental health diagnosis of paranoid schizophrenia. Mr. Miller was confined in the Dane County jail while this case was pending and prior to his plea hearing. The medical records obtained from the jail indicated the diagnosis. Mr. Miller submits that the records also indicate that he was suffering from feelings of hopelessness and that everything was against him. The records indicate that he was hearing voices in his

head, and that he was having difficulty with focus and concentration as a result. The records arguably indicate a deteriorating condition – his judgment and insight going from intact to good and then to fair – and that that the medication he was taking at the time was not effective. Although there was no expert testimony, there was no testimony or evidence offered by the state to dispute the medical records.

Mr. Miller himself testified at the postconviction motion hearing that that he essentially had given up on proving his innocence in this matter, and accordingly agreed to a plea resolution. He further testified that based on previous court appearances in which he had spoken up (and in one instance, inappropriately), he was reluctant to raise any questions with the court at the time of his plea. He never informed his trial counsel of his mental health issues. He signed the plea form incorrectly stating that he was not suffering from mental health issues or taking medication as part of his feeling that all was lost and that he would simply agree to the plea in order to get the case over.

Mr. Miller submits that the evidence in the record is sufficient to establish that at the time he entered his plea, his decision-making ability was compromised by his mental health, and that his plea was not entered knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently. Accordingly,

it would constitute a manifest injustice to deny his request for plea withdrawal.

B. Standard of Review

Whether a plea is knowing, intelligent, and voluntary is a question of constitutional fact. State v. Brown, 2006 WI 100, ¶18, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906 (2006). The reviewing court accepts the circuit court's findings of historical and evidentiary facts unless they are clearly erroneous, but determines independently whether those facts demonstrate that the defendant's plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. State v. Brown, 2006 WI 100, ¶18, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906 (2006).

C. Relevant Law

When a defendant seeks to withdraw a plea after sentencing, he must establish by clear and convincing evidence that refusal to allow withdrawal of the plea would result in a manifest injustice. State v. Brown, 2006 WI 100, ¶18, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906 (2006). One way for a defendant to meet this burden is to show that he did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily enter the plea. State v. Brown, 2006 WI 100, ¶18, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906 (2006).

When a guilty plea is not knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, a defendant is entitled to withdraw the plea as a matter of right because such a plea "violates

fundamental due process." <u>State v. Brown</u>, 2006 WI 100, ¶19, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906 (2006).

D. Argument

Mr. Miller's motion for postconviction relief alleged that at the time of his plea, his decision-making ability was compromised by the effects of paranoid schizophrenia. The motion alleged that Mr. Miller's medical records from the relevant time period indicated that he was being treated with medication for a diagnosis of schizophrenia-paranoid, and that he was reporting difficulty with concentration and focus, hearing voices, and feelings of hopelessness. (DOC 26:3: Appendix D:3).

As a result, his decision for forgo a jury trial and enter a plea of guilty was made under duress, and his plea was not entered voluntarily or intelligently. (DOC 26:3-4; Appendix D:3-4).

Mr. Miller's motion addressed the fact that during his plea hearing, he had affirmed the information contained on the plea questionnaire (which included that he was not receiving treatment or taking medication for a mental illness). (DOC 19:1)(DOC 39:4)(DOC 26:4-5; Appendix D:4-5). Mr. Miller had not informed his counsel of the fact that he had been diagnosed with paranoid schizophrenia and that he was taking prescription medication. (DOC 26:4; Appendix D:4).

Mr. Miller pointed to a prior court appearance in which he had been admonished by the court for an outburst, and another court appearance in which his prior counsel made some unflattering comments about Mr. Miller. (DOC 26:4-5; Appendix D:4-5). In doing so, he provided a plausible explanation for the inaccurate responses on the plea questionnaire and in court. See State v. Basley, 2008 WI App 253, ¶18, 298 Wis.2d 232, 726 N.W.2d 671 (Ct.App.2006).

1. At the time of the plea, Mr. Miller's decisionmaking ability was compromised by the effects of paranoid schizophrenia and his plea was entered under dures.

Mr. Miller testified at the motion hearing, and his medical records were introduced as exhibit one. ²

Mr. Miller testified that he was currently taking medication for a diagnosis of paranoid schizophrenia. (DOC 40:15; Appendix F:15). He further testified that he had been taking this new medication for about three months, and that it had been very helpful in making him

13

² In the court record, the medical records (exhibit one) are listed in two parts – Document 28 and Document 32. For the purposes of the postconviction motion and appeal, Mr. Miller's references to his medical records are limited to Document 32. Document 32 is attached as Appendix E.

feel more relaxed and focused. (DOC 40:15-16; Appendix F:15-16).

Mr. Miller testified that at the time the case was pending, he was confined in the Dane County jail with the intention to take this case to trial. (DOC 40:16; Appendix F:16). Mr. Miller had difficulty recalling the details of the plea hearing; specifically, reviewing the plea questionnaire with his counsel or the court inquiring about his waiver of his right to trial. (DOC 40:19-20; Appendix F:19-20). Mr. Miller stated that at the plea hearing, he did not want to argue with his lawyer or the court. (DOC 40:21; Appendix F:21).

Mr. Miller did recall that when he was presented with the state's offer to resolve the case with a plea, he didn't know what to do. (DOC 40:18; Appendix F:18). Mr. Miller testified that he "felt trapped" because no one was hearing anything he said. (DOC 40:20; Appendix F:20). Mr. Miller stated that at that time, he could not focus and his mind was racing. (DOC 40:20; Appendix F:20). According to Mr. Miller, "I threw my hand up." (DOC 40:19; Appendix F:19).

Mr. Miller's testimony is consistent with his medical records from that same period. The records indicate that Mr. Miller's judgment and insight had gone from "intact" in September, 2017 (DOC 32:62; Appendix E:61) to "good" and then to only "fair" by

early November, 2017. (DOC 32:47; Appendix E:46). As Mr. Miller argued at the motion hearing, it is reasonable to conclude that a change in judgment and insight that goes from "intact" to only "fair" represents a deterioration in judgment and insight. (DOC 40:93; Appendix F:9).

Notably, in September, 2017 Mr. Miller had reported that he was hearing voices and that the medication he was on at the time was not working. (DOC 32:61; Appendix E:60)(DOC 40:95; Appendix F:95). He also had reported a lack of focus and the feeling that the victim witness person "was out to get him." (DOC 32:61; Appendix E:60). A couple weeks later, he reported that the voices were getting worse and that "everything is working against me." (DOC 32:58; Appendix E:57)(DOC 40:95; Appendix F:95). A notation indicates that his medication had been increased. (DOC 32:58; Appendix E:57). About ten days later, he reported that the medication was helping with the voices a little bit, but that he was having trouble with memory and focus, and feeling that no one is trying to help him. (DOC 32:55; Appendix E:54)(DOC 40:96; Appendix F:96).

A few weeks later – early November, 2017 – his medical records indicate that his judgment and insight were only "fair." (DOC 32:47; Appendix E:46). The

plea and sentencing hearing in this case took place on November 10, 2017.

Mr. Miller submits that the combination of his testimony and medical records from the time leading up to the plea hearing provide clear and convincing evidence that his plea was a product of duress rather than a voluntary and intelligent choice. Throughout this period, Mr. Miller reported feeling that no one was helping him; that everything was against him; that the victim witness person was out to get him. These somewhat irrational complaints are consistent with a person suffering the effects of a mental illness like schizophrenia. Mr. Miller reported a lack of ability to remember and focus, and his records indicate an arguably deteriorating mental condition despite an increase in medication. On the day of the plea hearing, Mr. Miller had essentially given up on the idea of attempting to establish his innocence to the charges, and "threw up" his hands in defeat. His acceptance of the state's plea offer was, accordingly, not a voluntary and intelligent choice.

The state questioned Mr. Miller at the motion hearing. Mr. Miller indicated that on the day of the plea hearing, he was in court within five minutes of his discussion of the plea offer with counsel. (DOC 40:39; Appendix F:39). He testified that when he comes to

court, it's a "nightmare" and that "the voice is telling you, you know, 'they're going to do what they're going to do anyway." (DOC 40:81-82; Appendix F:81-82).

During its questioning of Mr. Miller, the state mentioned the fact that in prior court appearances, Mr. Miller had requested that his counsel call a specific witness at the preliminary hearing, and had questioned the court's ruling (DOC 40:69,71; Appendix F:69,71), and had made an argument in favor of a bond modification motion. (DOC 40:75; Appendix F:75).

However, those hearings occurred months prior to the plea hearing in this case. The fact that Mr. Miller made a request to his counsel about calling a witness, or asked the court to change a bond condition to allow contact with his wife, is not inconsistent with his argument for the withdrawal of his plea. Indeed, in both of those instances when Mr. Miller spoke out during a hearing, his request was denied. Part of what he was

Overing Mr. Millon's manne

³ During Mr. Miller's responses to the state's questions, the question arose as to whether Mr. Miller is alleging ineffective assistance of counsel as to the performance of one of his prior attorneys. As appellate counsel explained at the hearing, despite some of Mr. Miller's comments at the hearing, based on appellate counsel's discussions with Mr. Miller and prior counsel, he is not raising the issue that his prior counsel performed deficiently and that the deficient performance prejudiced Mr. Miller. (DOC 40:57-60; Appendix F:57-60). The court concluded that although Mr. Miller had indicated that he felt rushed and may not have understood everything on the day of the plea, it was not asserted to be a consequence of the performance of trial counsel. (DOC 40:86; Appendix F:86).

feeling by the time of the plea hearing was that it didn't matter what he did or said – everything was against him. The fact that on a prior occasion he had spoken up in court and been rebuked contributed to his eventual "willingness" to give up his right to have a trial and instead enter a guilty plea. Perhaps a person who does not suffer from paranoid schizophrenia would have reacted or interpreted those events differently. However, by the time Mr. Miller got to court for his plea hearing, his mental health condition had arguably worsened to the point where it interfered with his ability to rationally and effectively evaluate the situation and make an intelligent decision and voluntary choice as to whether to go to trial.

2. Mr. Miller's plea was not entered knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently, and it would constitute a manifest injustice not to permit him to withdraw the plea.

When a defendant seeks to withdraw a plea after sentencing, he must establish by clear and convincing evidence that refusal to allow withdrawal of the plea would result in a manifest injustice. State v. Brown, 2006 WI 100, ¶18, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906 (2006). One way for a defendant to meet this burden is to show that he did not knowingly, intelligently, and

voluntarily enter the plea. <u>State v. Brown</u>, 2006 WI 100, ¶18, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906 (2006).

When a guilty plea is not knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, a defendant is entitled to withdraw the plea as a matter of right because such a plea "violates fundamental due process." <u>State v. Brown</u>, 2006 WI 100, ¶19, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906 (2006). The defendant maintains the burden of proof, and the facts adduced must show manifest injustice by clear and convincing evidence before the defendant may withdraw his plea. <u>State v. Brown</u>, 2006 WI 100, ¶42, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906 (2006).

Mr. Miller respectfully submits that the facts of record demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that his plea was not entered knowingly, voluntarily, nd intelligently. Accordingly, it would constitute a manifest injustice not to permit him to withdraw his plea in this case.

In denying his postconviction motion, the circuit court concluded that Mr. Miller had not met his burden. (DOC 40:119; Appendix F:119). The court further found that the record did not establish that Mr. Miller's mental health impeded his ability to focus or understand what was happening at the plea hearing. (DOC 40:119; Appendix F:119). Although the court concluded that Mr. Miller was "stressed out" at the time of his plea, it

did not create "a serious flaw in the fundamental integrity of the plea." (DOC 40:119; Appendix F:119).

Mr. Miller submits that his sense of hopelessness and feeling stressed out at the time of his plea was more than what would be typical in a situation where a person goes to court to face a pending criminal charge. Mr. Miller's medical records indicate that his judgment and insight were deteriorating by the time of his plea, going from intact to good, and then to only fair. Although there is no expert testimony in the record to further explain these notations, the record of the notations themselves indicates a worsening condition. The records indicate that Mr. Miller's medication had been increased in order to address the issues presented by his condition. He reported hearing voices and feeling that everything and everyone was against him.

Mr. Miller submits that his testimony and medical records clearly establish that at the time of his plea, his ability to make decisions was not the same as a person who was not suffering from paranoid schizophrenia. Throughout the period that the case was pending, and up to and including the time of the postconviction motion hearing, Mr. Miller has maintained his innocence. Although that is not a factor in determining whether a manifest injustice exists, it raises a question as to why Mr. Miller would have

suddenly agreed to plead guilty absent some compromising factor in his decision-making. The record in this case answers that question – his deteriorating mental state as a result of the diagnosis of paranoid schizophrenia impeded his ability to make a decision on whether to waive his right to a trial.

Does the fact that Mr. Miller's judgment and insight (and as a result, his ability to make decisions like whether to waive his right to a trial) was worsening cast doubt on the fundamental integrity of his plea? Mr. Miller would answer that question in the affirmative.

The significance of a defendant's mental health and its relation to the validity of his or her plea in a criminal case is reflected in the fact that it is one of the questions asked on the plea questionnaire form. If Mr. Miller had responded in court on the day of the plea hearing in a manner that was consistent with his medical records, it is unlikely that the court would have accepted his plea. If Mr. Miller had advised the court at his plea hearing that he was being treated for paranoid schizophrenia, that he was hearing voices, that he felt like everyone was out to get him, and that his judgment and insight were deteriorating despite taking his medication, the court arguably would not have accepted his plea under those circumstances. The fundamental

integrity of any plea entered under such conditions would be in doubt.

Self-imposed duress does not render a plea involuntary. See State v. Goyette, 2006 WI App 178, ¶29-30, 296 Wis. 2d 359, 722 N.W.2d 731 (Ct.App.2006). However, the effects schizophrenia are not examples of self-imposed duress, such as one's religious beliefs or the desire to shield others from prosecution. The latter examples are akin to motivations that induce; the effects of a mental health illness are arguably more akin to forces that compel. See State v. Goyette, 2006 WI App 178, ¶30, 296 Wis. 2d 359, 722 N.W.2d 731 (Ct.App.2006) citing Rahhal v. State, 52 Wis.2d 144, 151-152, 187 N.W.2d 800(1971)(the distinction between a motivation which induces and a force which compels the human mind to act must always be kept in focus).

The record in this case is consistent with the argument that Mr. Miller entered a guilty plea in this case as a result of the compulsive force of his mental health. The record indicates that the compulsive force of paranoid schizophrenia overcame his intention to take the case to trial, and caused him to enter his plea of guilty. Accordingly, it represents a serious flaw in the fundamental integrity of the plea, and as such, unless Mr. Miller is permitted to withdraw his plea it would

constitute a manifest injustice. See <u>State v. Nawrocke</u>, 193 Wis. 2d 373, 379, 534 N.W.2d 624 (Ct.App.1995).

CONCLUSION TO BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

Mr. Miller respectfully requests that this court reverse the denial of his postconviction motion, vacate the judgement of conviction, and withdraw his plea in this case.