RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 04-04-2019 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV CLERK OF CO

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2018AP002161-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

CRAIG L MILLER,

Defendant-Appellant.

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY, BRANCH 12, THE HONORABLE JILL J. KAROFSKY, PRESIDING

> Tracy L. McMiller Assistant District Attorney Dane County, Wisconsin Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent State Bar No. 1097909

> 215 South Hamilton Street Dane County Courthouse, Room 3000 Madison, WI 53703 Telephone: (608)266-4211

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

ARGUMENT

I. MILLER HAS FAILED TO PROVE, BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE, THAT HIS PLEA WAS NOT KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND INTELLIGENTLY ENTERED AND THEREFORE A WITHDRAWAL OF HIS GUILTY PLEA IS NOT NECESSARY TO CORRECT A MANIFEST INJUSTICE.

A. Standard of Review

When a defendant seeks to withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing, he must prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that a refusal to allow withdrawal of the plea would result in "manifest injustice." *State v. Thomas*, 2000 WI 13, ¶ 16, 232 Wis.2d 714, 605 N.W.2d 836. One way for a defendant to meet this burden is to show that he did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily enter the plea. *State v. Trochinski*, 2002 WI 56, ¶ 15, 253 Wis.2d 38, 644 N.W.2d 891; *State ex rel. Warren v. Schwarz*, 219 Wis.2d 615, 636, 579 N.W.2d 698 (1998); *State v. Krawczyk*, 2003 WI App 6, ¶ 9, 259 Wis.2d 843, 657 N.W.2d 77.

When a guilty plea is not knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, a defendant is entitled to withdraw the plea as a matter of right because such a plea "violates fundamental due process." *State v. Van Camp*, 213 Wis.2d 131, 139, 569 N.W.2d 577 (1997). Whether a plea is knowing, intelligent,

and voluntary is a question of constitutional fact. *Trochinski*, 253 Wis.2d 38, ¶ 16, 644 N.W.2d 891. Appellate Courts (COA) accept the circuit court's findings of historical and evidentiary facts unless they are clearly erroneous but independently determine whether those facts demonstrate that Miller's plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. *Id*.

B. Application of Relevant Principles of Law.

Miller has the burden to state sufficient material fact that, if true, would grant Miller relief. State v. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 310, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996). Miller must then establish by clear and convincing evidence that refusal to allow withdrawal of the plea would result in a manifest injustice. State v. Brown, 2006 WI 100, ¶18, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906 (2006). The "manifest injustice" test requires a defendant to show "a serious flaw in the fundamental integrity of the plea." State v. Nawrocke, 193 Wis.2d 373, 379, 534 N.W.2d 624 (Ct.App.1995) (citing Libke v. State, 60 Wis.2d 121, 128, 208 N.W.2d 331, 335 (1973)). There is no indication in the record or Miller's briefs that there was assertion that the plea colloquy was defective or that Miller's prior counsel was

ineffective. Further, Miller has not claimed that he was confused or unable to understand what was going on at the plea hearing (40:108).

A plea will not be voluntary unless the defendant understands the nature of the constitutional rights he is waiving. *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis.2d 246, 265, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986). To ensure a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary plea, *Bangert* also requires that a trial judge explore the defendant's capacity to make informed decisions. *Id.* At 265-266. There is no indication in the record or claim from Miller that at the plea hearing the circuit court failed to fulfill her duties as laid out in Wis. Stat. § 971.08 and Wis. JI-Criminal SM-32 (1985), Part V, Waiver of Constitutional Rights.

"If a defendant does not understand the nature of the charge and the implications of the plea, he should not be entering the plea, and the court should not be accepting the plea. On the other hand, if a defendant does understand the charge and the effects of his plea, he should not be permitted to game the system by taking advantage of judicial mistakes." Brown, 2006 WI 100, ¶37, 293 Wis. 2d

594, 716 N.W.2d 906. There is no indication that Miller did not understand the nature of his charge or his plea.

Miller instead is claiming that he suffered from paranoid schizophrenia, and that as a result, his decision to waive his right to a trial and instead enter a plea of guilty was not knowing, voluntary, and intelligent.

The circuit court held a hearing on October 22, 2018 to determine if Miller had met his burden to establish by clear and convincing evidence that there was a serious flaw in the fundamental integrity of the plea. (40:111). The circuit court found that she could not find from the record that there was evidence that Miller's mental health impeded his ability to focus or understand what was happening at the plea hearing. (40:119) The circuit court found that Miller was stressed out but that stress did not meet the burden of a serious flaw in the fundamental integrity of the plea hearing. (40:119).

The circuit court subsequently denied Miller's motion for postconviction relief after making the following findings:

- 1) There is nothing in the record regarding Miller's competency to proceed. (40:111)
- 2) There is nothing in the record regarding an NGI plea claiming that Miller had been suffering from a mental illness such that he did not appreciate his conduct. (40:112)
- 3) There is absolutely no evidence regarding the symptoms of paranoid schizophrenia or the treatment of paranoid schizophrenia. The circuit court only had medical records that Miller suffers from paranoid schizophrenia. However, there was no expert testimony as to how that diagnosis would have affected his plea. (40:112)
- 4) There is nothing in the record regarding how the medications Miller was taking leading up to the plea hearing were helping with the symptoms of paranoid schizophrenia or if there were any side effects of those medications. (40:113)
- 5) There is nothing in the record whether or not Miller's paranoid schizophrenia was severe or not

severe, or if you can have severe or not severe paranoid schizophrenia. (40:113)

- 6) There is nothing in the record indicating whether or not schizophrenia impairs someone's ability to act voluntarily. (40:113)
- 7) Miller signed the bottom of the plea form, indicating that he was not suffering from a mental illness at the time of the plea, and that he was not taking medications. (40:114)
- 8) Miller did not claim that prior counsel, Mr. Schilling, was ineffective on November 10, 2017. (40:114)
- 9) The plea colloquy on November 10, 2017 was not deficient and Miller is not claiming that it was deficient. (40:114-115)
- 10) Miller has had prior contact with the criminal justice system, making him familiar with the system. (40:115)
- 11) There is no testimony on what it means in the medical reports when his (Miller's) judgment goes

from "intact" or "good" to "fair." There is no evidence as to what that means or who is making those notations. The circuit court found that she had a hard time placing a lot of significance on those statements. (40:115)

- 12) Statements from Miller regarding feeling hopeless and frustrated prior to plea hearing were understandable due to the criminal case, revocation, mixed feelings for the victim regarding her recantation and desire to divorce her, hearing voices, and frustrations with his lawyer. (40:115-117)
- 13) In a medical note six days before the plea, Miller's appearance, speech, affect and behavior was appropriate; his mood was angry and irritable; he was oriented to person and place; his intelligence was average; his memory was intact; and his insight and judgment were fair. (40:117)
- 14) As to Miller's claim that he was afraid to speak in court, the circuit court had no information as to whether Miller was afraid to speak in the courtroom

on the date of the plea. However, the circuit court noted that Miller has not been shy about speaking up in court at the preliminary hearing or on the date of the post-conviction hearing. (40:118-119)

15) From the record, the circuit court could not find there was evidence that Miller's mental health impeded his ability to focus or understand what was happening at the plea hearing. (40:119)

Miller's motion is conclusory and incomplete and the circuit court was correct to deny the motion. Nothing in the motion or in the record explains how his paranoid schizophrenia, medications, and voices affected his decision-making and why it should allow him to withdraw his There was no expert testimony as to how that plea. diagnosis may have affected his plea. In fact, the only evidence in the record that we have is that Miller has a diagnosis for paranoid schizophrenia and was being treated jail. The statements that "someone is feeling in the hopeless or if they feel paranoid or if they feel hopeless that things are out of their control or everyone's against them" and "are probably consistent with a person who is dealing with paranoid schizophrenia" are pure speculation

(40:94). The circuit court made the proper inquiries at the plea hearing and then later at the post-conviction hearing. Miller admits that his paranoid schizophrenia and medications neither make him confused or unable to understand what was going on, nor that the medication side effects were causing a problem, nor that his judgment was poor. (40:108-109).

Miller now claims that at the time of the plea he had essentially given up on proving his innocence and agreed to a plea resolution. In fact, per a negotiated plea, Miller received the benefit of the State dismissing the sole felony charge, a Substantial Battery. The defense also limited the facts to which Miller was pleading as the factual basis during the plea and sentencing on November 10, 2017. (39:7, 11-12) This was likely a strategic decision on the part of the defense to minimize his exposure.

There is no evidence that the diagnosis of paranoid schizophrenia or the medication for the treatment of this mental illness caused duress on Miller to the point that his plea was involuntary. There has been no expert testimony as to whether the mental illness or medications

would have produced duress that would negate the voluntariness of the plea. The defense claims that it is "reasonable to conclude" that when a change in judgment and insight that goes from "intact" to "fair" represents a deterioration in judgment and insight. This is merely a conclusory statement. At the time of the plea, Miller was being treated in the jail for his mental illness. (28:1-Miller now claims that "the compulsive force of 75) paranoid schizophrenia overcame his intention to take the case to trial, and caused him to enter his plea of guilty." Again, there is no evidence that this defendant's diagnosis of paranoid schizophrenia, for which he was being treated the past 30 years, caused a serious flaw in the fundamental integrity of the plea.

The circuit court was correct when she noted there was nothing in the record regarding competency or NGI, and Miller is still not claiming that he did not understand nor that he did not appreciate this conduct. The circuit court was correct in finding that Miller was very stressed out by what was going on in his life, most notably: a potential revocation for which he was trying to work out an ATR; the criminal case; frustrations with this wife and his lawyer;

and his desire to get a divorce. (40:117-118) His mental health concerns, which were being treated with medications, seemed to pale in comparison to the rest of his concerns.

Miller failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that a refusal to withdraw his plea would result in a manifest injustice. The Circuit Court correctly held that Miller failed to show that his plea was not knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily entered.

CONCLUSION

Based on the reasons stated above, the Plaintiff-Respondent requests that the decision of the trial court be affirmed.

> Tracy L. McMiller Assistant District Attorney Dane County, Wisconsin Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent State Bar No. 1097909

> 215 South Hamilton Street Dane County Courthouse, Room 3000 Madison, WI 53703 Telephone: (608)266-4211

CERTIFICATION

I certify that this brief conforms to the rules contained in sec. 809.19(8)(b) and (c) for a brief produced using the following font:

> Monospaced font: 10 characters per inch; double spaced; 1.5 inch margin on left side and 1 inch margins on the other 3 sides. The length of this brief is 13 pages.